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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 27 March 1992 as an exempted company with limited

liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and its shares are listed on The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The address of the registered office of the Company is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton

HM11, Bermuda and the address of the principal place of business of the Company is 2nd floor, Talon

Tower, 38 Connaught Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries

are set out in note 24 to the financial statements. During the year, the business segment of provision

of telecommunication/system integration services has been discontinued, details of which has been set

out in note 7 to the financial statements.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements

are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless

otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with all applicable

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which is a collective term that includes all

applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards

(“HKASs”), and interpretations (“Int”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and applicable disclosure provisions of The Rules Governing

the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is historical costs as

modified for the revaluation of certain financial instruments which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to exercise its judgement in the

process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involved a higher degree of judgement

or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial

statements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In current year, the Group adopted the new/revised standards and interpretations of HKFRS below,

which are relevant to its operations. The 2005 comparatives have been restated as required, in

accordance with the relevant requirements.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 2 Inventories

HKAS 7 Cash Flow Statements

HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

HKAS 10 Events After the Balance Sheet Date

HKAS 12 Income Taxes

HKAS 14 Segment Reporting

HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

HKAS 17 Leases

HKAS 18 Revenue

HKAS 19 Employee Benefits

HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

HKAS 28 Investments in Associates

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation

HKAS 33 Earnings Per Share

HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets

HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

HKAS 38 Intangible Assets

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Transition and Initial Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

HK-Int 4 Lease – Determination of the Length of Lease Term in respect of

Hong Kong Land Leases

HKAS-Int 15 Operating Leases – Incentives

HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations

HKFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

The adoption of these new and revised HKASs 2, 7, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 19, 21, 23, 27, 28, 33, 37,

HK-Int 4, HKAS-Int 15 and HKFRS 2 did not result in substantial changes to the accounting policies of

the Group and the methods of computation in the Group’s financial statements. In summary:

(i) HKAS 1 has affected the presentation of minority interests, share of net after-tax results of

associates and other disclosures. In the consolidated balance sheet, minority interests are shown

within equity. In the consolidated income statement, minority interests are presented as an

allocation of total profit or loss for the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(ii) The adoption of revised HKAS 17 has resulted in a change in the accounting policy relating to

the reclassification of leasehold land from property, plant and equipment to operating leases.

The up-front prepayments made for the leasehold land are expensed in the income statement

on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease or where there is impairment, the impairment

is expensed in the income statement. In prior years, the leasehold land was classified under

property, plant and equipment and accounted for at cost less accumulated depreciation and

accumulated impairment.

(iii) HKAS 24 has affected the identification of related parties and some other related party

disclosures.

(iv) The adoption of HKASs 32 and 39 has resulted in a change in the accounting policy for

recognition, measurement, derecognition and disclosure of financial instruments. The principal

effects on the Group as a result of implementation of HKASs 32 and 39 are summarised as

follows:

(a) HKAS 32 affected the presentation of financial instruments in the financial statements

of the Group which was summarised as follows:

Convertible notes

The principal impact of HKAS 32 on the Group is in relation to convertible notes issued

by the Company that contain both liability and equity components. Previously, convertible

notes were classified as liabilities on the balance sheet and stated at amortised cost.

Under HKAS 32, convertible notes issued are split into their liability and equity components

at initial recognition by recognising the liability component at its fair value which is

determined using a market interest rate for equivalent non-convertible notes and

attributing to the equity component the difference between the proceeds from issue

and the fair value of the liability component. The liability component is subsequently

carried at amortised cost. The equity component is recognised in the convertible notes

reserve until the notes are either converted (in which case it is transferred to share

premium) or the notes are redeemed (in which case it is released directly to retained

earnings). The issuance costs incurred for the arrangement of convertible notes were

charged to the income statement in the year of issue. Retrospective application is required

for adoption of HKAS 32.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) HKAS 39, which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005,

generally does not permit the recognition, derecognition or measurement of financial

assets and liabilities on a retrospective basis. The principal effects on the Group as a

result of implementation of HKAS 39 are summarised below:

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group has applied the relevant transitional provisions in HKAS 39 with respect to

classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities that are within

the scope of HKAS 39.

From 1 July 2005 onwards, the Group has classified and measured its financial assets

and financial liabilities in accordance with the requirements of HKAS 39. Financial assets

under HKAS 39 are classified as “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”,

“available-for-sale financial assets”, “loans and receivables” or “held-to-maturity

investments”. Financial liabilities are generally classified as “financial liabilities at fair

value through profit or loss” or “other financial liabilities”. Financial liabilities at fair

value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value being

recognised in profit or loss directly. Other financial liabilities are carried at amortised

cost using the effective interest method after initial recognition.

Investment in convertible notes

From 1 July 2005 onwards, the Group has applied HKAS 39 to the convertible notes,

which comprise of a conversion option embedded in a debt instrument, acquired during

the year ended 30 June 2006. In accordance with HKAS 39, the conversion option

embedded in the debt instrument is accounted for separately as derivative deemed as

“Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”. Changes in the fair value of the

conversion options are recognised directly in profit or loss. The debt component is

designated as “Held-to-maturity investments” which are carried at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2006

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) The adoption of HKASs 36, 38 and HKFRS 3 results in a change in the accounting policy for
goodwill. Until 30 June 2005, goodwill was either:

– amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 to 15 years; or

– written off against reserves.

In accordance with the provisions of HKFRS 3

– The Group ceased amortisation of goodwill from 1 July 2005;

– Accumulated amortisation as at 30 June 2005 has been eliminated with a corresponding
decrease in the cost of goodwill;

– From the year ended 30 June 2006 onwards, goodwill is tested annually for impairment,
as well as when there is indication of impairment.

The Group has reassessed the useful lives of its intangible assets in accordance with the
provisions of HKAS 38. No adjustment resulted from this reassessment.

All changes in the accounting policies have been made in accordance with the transition provisions in
the respective standards. All standards adopted by the Group require retrospective application other
than the following standards:

– HKAS 16 – the initial measurement of an item of property, plant and equipment acquired in an
exchange of assets transaction is accounted at fair value prospectively only to future transactions;

– HKAS 21 – prospective accounting for goodwill and fair value adjustments as part of foreign
operations;

– HKAS 39 – does not permit to recognise, derecognise and measure financial assets and liabilities
in accordance with this standard on a retrospective basis;

– HKFRS 3 – prospectively after the adoption date.

(vi) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

In the current year, the Group has, for the first time, applied HKFRS 5 “Non-Current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” (“HKFRS 5”). HKFRS 5 requires an entity to classify
a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use. The assets classified as held
for sale should be measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value, less costs to sell.
The Group has applied the relevant transitional provisions in HKFRS 5 and elected to apply
HKFRS 5 prospectively to non-current assets (or disposal groups) that meet the criteria of held
for sale and operations that meet the criteria to be classified as discontinued on or after 1 July
2005.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The effects of the changes in the accounting policies described above on the results for the current

and prior years are as follows:

Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 30 June 2006

HKAS 17 HKAS 38 HKAS 39 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Decrease in depreciation of property,

plant and equipment (85) – – (85)

Increase in amortisation of

leasehold land 4 – – 4

Impairment loss on goodwill – 40,414 – 40,414

Change in fair value of

financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss – – 2,259 2,259

Increase in interest income – – (336) (336)

Increase in finance costs – – 11,590 11,590

Total (decrease)/increase in loss

for the year (81) 40,414 13,513 53,846

Increase in loss per share Nil 1.9 cents 0.7 cents 2.6 cents

For the year ended 30 June 2005

HKAS 17 HKAS 38 HKAS 39 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Decrease in depreciation of

property, plant and equipment (35) – – (35)

Increase in amortisation of leasehold land 2 – – 2

Total decrease in loss for the year (33) – – (33)

Total decrease in loss per share Nil – – Nil
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2006

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 30 June 2006

HKASs

HKAS 17 HKAS 38 32 & 39 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities

Increase in leasehold land 14,297 – – 14,297

Decrease in property, plant

and equipment (14,216) – – (14,216)

Decrease in goodwill – (40,414) – (40,414)

Decrease in financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss – – (2,259) (2,259)

Increase in held-to-maturity

investments – – 336 336

Decrease in convertible notes – – 34,330 34,330

Total increase/(decrease) in net assets 81 (40,414) 32,407 (7,926)

Equity

Increase in convertible notes reserve – – 45,920 45,920

Decrease/(increase) in loss

for the year 81 (40,414) (13,513) (53,846)

Total increase /(decrease) in equity 81 (40,414) 32,407 (7,926)

As at 30 June 2005

HKASs

HKAS 17 HKAS 38 32 & 39 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities

Increase in leasehold land 14,314 – – 14,314

Decrease in property, plant

and equipment (14,281) – – (14,281)

Total increase in net assets 33 – – 33

Equity

Increase in equity 33 – – 33
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all

its subsidiaries made up to 30 June each year.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are consolidated from or to

their effective dates of acquisition or disposal, respectively.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on

consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately from

the Group’s equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of those

interests at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes

in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the

minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the Group

except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional

investment to cover the losses.

(b) Investment in Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an enterprise controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has

the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise

so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In the Company’s balance sheet, the investment in

subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries

are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

(c) Interests in Associates

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements

using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates are

carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the

Group’s share of the profit or loss and of changes in equity of associates, less and identified

impairment loss. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest

in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the

Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of future

losses. An additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the

extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of that associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated

to the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2006

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the

Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary or

associate at the date of acquisition.

Following on the adoption of HKFRS 3 “Business Combination”, the Group ceased amortisation

of goodwill from 1 July 2005. All accumulated amortisation of goodwill would be eliminated

with a corresponding decrease in the cost of goodwill. From the year ended 30 June 2006

onwards, goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary is

allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating unit (“CGU”) expected to benefit from the

synergies of the combination. CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment

annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the

recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment

loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment

loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Goodwill arising from acquisition of an associate is included within the carrying amount of the

investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment.

(e) Excess of an acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of an acquiree’s identifiable assets,

liabilities and contingent liabilities (“discount on acquisitions”)

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or an associate for which an

agreement date is or after 1 July 2005 represents the excess of the net fair value of an

acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the business

combination. Discount on acquisition is recognised immediately in profit or loss. A discount on

acquisition arising on an acquisition of an associate (which is accounted for using equity

method) is included as income in the determination of the investor’s share of results of the

associate in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than buildings, are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses at the balance sheet date. The cost of an

asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its

present working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after the

asset has been put in to operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, is

normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations

where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the

future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the asset, the expenditure is

capitalised as an additional cost of the asset.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or fair value of property, plant and equipment

over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line basis, at the following annual rates:

Buildings : Over 40 years

Leasehold improvement : 20%

Furniture, fixture and equipment : 20%

Tools and moulds : 20%

The gain or loss arising from disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the

sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the income statement.

(g) Leasehold Land

Leasehold land represents prepaid lease payment made for leasehold land. Leasehold land is

stated at cost less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment

losses. The cost of leasehold land is amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the

relevant leasehold land or the operation period of the relevant company.

(h) Film Rights

Film rights represent films and television drama series produced or acquired by the Group for

reproduction, distribution and sub-licensing, are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation

and any identified impairment loss. Amortisation is charged to the income statement based on

the proportion of actual income earned during the year to the total estimated income from the

distribution of film rights. The amortisation of film rights will not exceed twenty years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2006

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Film and Music Production in Progress

Film and music production in progress represent films, television drama series and music records

under production, are stated at cost incurred to date, less any identified impairment losses.

Cost is transferred to film and music production rights upon completion.

(j) Artiste Contract Rights

Artiste contract rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any identified

impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the income statement as per the contract terms.

(k) Trademark

Trademark which has definite useful life is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any

identified impairment loss. Amortisation is charged to the income statement over the contract

terms.

(l) Revenue Recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can

be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the income statement as follows:

(i) Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed.

(ii) Revenue from provision of telecommunication and system integration services are

recognised when services are performed.

(iii) Revenue from licensing of the distribution rights over films and television programmes is

recognised when the master materials of films are delivered to customers and the title

has passed.

(iv) Revenue from provision of model and artiste services are recognised when services are

rendered.

(v) Revenue from event production is recognised when the events are completed or the

services are provided.

(vi) Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and

at the interest rate applicable.

(vii) Rental income, including rentals invoices in advance from properties under operating

leases, recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant leases.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the

first-in, first-out basis and comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs

and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present

location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary

course of business less all costs to completion and costs to make the sale.

(n) Foreign Currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured

using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates

(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK

dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the

exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and

losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at

year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign

currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as

qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net investment hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equity instruments held at fair

value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation

difference on non-monetary items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial

assets, are included in the fair value reserve in equity.

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the

currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from

the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(1) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing

rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(2) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange

rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative

effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and

expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

(3) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of

equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2006

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Foreign Currencies (Continued)

(iii) Group companies (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment

in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as

hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation

is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the income statement as part of the

gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are

treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(o) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the contract transfer substantially

all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating

leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line

basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging

an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are capitalised at their fair value at the date of acquisition or,

if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the

lessor is included in the balance sheet as an obligation under finance leases. Finance charges,

which represent the difference between the total leasing commitments and the recorded value

of the assets acquired, are charged to the income statement over the term of the relevant

leases so as to produce a constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the

obligations for each accounting period.

Rental payable under operating leases are charged to income statement on a straight-line basis

over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivables as an incentive to enter

into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on

a straight-lease basis.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when a group

entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and

financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than

financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or

deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on

initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the four categories, including financial

assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial

assets and held-to-maturity investments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets

are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are

purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame

established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. The accounting policies adopted in

respect of each category of financial assets are set out below.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise derivative financial instruments

that are not designated and effective hedging instruments. At each balance sheet date

subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured

at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in

which they arise.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments

that are not quoted in an active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial

recognition, loans and receivables including accounts receivable, time deposits, staff housing

loans and other receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,

less any identified impairment losses. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when

there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted

at the original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods

when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event

occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying amount

of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost

would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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For the year ended 30 June 2006

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as such or not

classified as any of the other categories (set out above). At each balance sheet date subsequent

to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Changes in

fair value are recognised in equity, until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be

impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is removed

from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Any impairment losses on available-for-sale financial

assets are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments

will not be reversed in subsequent periods. For available-for-sale equity investments that do not

have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably

measured, they are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at each balance

sheet date subsequent to initial recognition. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss

when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The amount of the impairment loss

is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value

of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar

financial asset. Such impairment losses will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable

payments and fixed maturity that the Group’s management has the positive intention and

ability to hold to maturity. Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are not

included in this classification. Other long term investments that are intended to be held-to-

maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost is

computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus the

cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the

initially recognised amount and the maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and

points paid or received between parties to the contract that is an integral part of the effective

interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. For investments carried at

amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the investments

are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according to

the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual

interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial

liabilities are generally classified into financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and

other financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in respect of financial liabilities and

equity instruments are set out below.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss has two sub-categories, including financial

liabilities held for trading and those designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial

recognition. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at

fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised

directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including bank and other borrowings, floating rate notes, fixed rate

notes and zero coupon notes are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.

(q) Convertible Notes

Convertible notes that can be converted to share capital at the option of the holder, where the

number of shares issued does not vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted for as

compound financial instruments. At initial recognition of the liability component of the convertible

notes is calculated as the present value of the future interest and principal payments, discounted

at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar liabilities

that do not have a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognised

as the liability component is recognised as the equity component. Transaction costs that relate

to the issue of a compound financial instrument are allocated to the liability and equity

component in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised cost. The interest expense recognised

in the income statement on the liability component is calculated using the effective interest

method. The equity component is recognised in the convertible notes reserve until either the

notes are converted or redeemed.

If the notes are converted, the convertible notes reserve, together with the carrying amount of

the liability component at the time of conversion, are transferred to share capital and share

premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the notes are redeemed, the convertible

notes reserve is released directly to accumulated losses.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax

currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit is the profit for the

year, determined in accordance with the rules established by the tax authorities, upon which

income taxes are payable.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the

carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax

bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet

liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary

differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable

profits will be available against which deductible temporary difference can be utilised. Such

assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill (or

negative goodwill) or from the initial recognition (other than a business combination) of other

assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting

profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investment in

subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference

and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced

to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the

liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income

statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case

the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Impairment Loss on Assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine

whether there is any indication of impairment loss on assets (excluding inventories, investment

properties and financial assets other than interest in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures),

or whether there is any indication that an impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset

is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset

exceeds its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the

year in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, when the impairment

loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant policy for that revalued asset.

i. Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its net selling price and value in use.

The net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s

length transaction while value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows

expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of

its useful life. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of

those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of

assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

ii. Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been

changed in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss

in respect of goodwill is reversed only if the loss was caused by a specific external event

of an exceptional nature that is not expect to recur, and the increase in recoverable

amount relates clearly to the reversal of the effect of that specific event. A reversal of

impairment losses is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment

losses are credited to the income statement in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.

(t) Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a

result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle

the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where

the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value

at the balance sheet date of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence

will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future

events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising

from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic

resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent

liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to financial statements. When a change

in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised

as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not

wholly within the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in

the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When

inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

(v) Employee Benefits

(i) Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leaves, leave passage and the cost to the Group of

non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are

rendered by employees of the Group. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the

effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds are required under the Hong Kong Mandatory

Provident Funds Schemes Ordinance are recognised as an expense in the consolidated

income statement as incurred.

(iii) The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the share

options and restricted share awards is recognised as an expense in the income statement.

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined with reference

to the fair value of the share options and restricted share awards granted. At each

balance sheet date, the Company revises its estimates of the number of share options

that are expected to become exercisable and the number of restricted share awards that

become vested. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in

the income statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity in the balance sheet

will be made over the remaining vesting periods.

(iv) Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably

commits itself to terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary

redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of

withdrawal.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Related Parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control

the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and

operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common

control or common significant influences. Related parties may be individuals (being members of

key management personnel, significant shareholders and/or their close family members) or

entities and include entities which are controlled or under the significant influence or related

parties of the Group where those parties are individuals.

(x) Related Party Transactions

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of

resources or obligations between related parties.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies as described in note 2 above, the management

has made various estimates and judgments (other than those involving estimates) based on past

experience, expectations of the future and other information. The key source of estimation uncertainty

and the critical accounting judgments that can significantly affect the amounts recognised in the

financial statements are set out below.

(a) Impairment Loss on Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has been impairment loss on intangible

assets and goodwill. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are determined based

on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions

made by the management on the future operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and

other assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.

(b) Impairment Loss on Trade and Other Receivables

The provision of impairment loss on trade and other receivables of the Group is based on the

evaluation of collectibility and aging analysis of accounts and on the management’s estimate.

In determining whether impairment is required, the Group takes into consideration the aging

status and likelihood of collection. When recoverability of trade and other receivables are called

into doubts, specific provision of impairment loss on trade and other receivables are made on

the difference between the estimated future cash flow expected to receive discounted using

the original effective interest rate and the carrying value.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c) Impairment Loss on Film and Music Production in Progress

The management of the Group reviews an aging analysis at each balance sheet date, and

identify the slow-moving film and music production in progress that are no longer suitable for

use in production. The management estimates the net realisable value for such film and music

production in progress based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions

of the finished products. In addition, the Group carries out review on each film and music

record at each balance sheet date and makes allowance for any film and music production in

progress that production no longer proceed.

(d) Impairment Loss on Film Rights

At each balance sheet date, the directors of the Company carries review of the carrying

amount of each film by reference to its estimation of total projected revenues from each film,

which base on the historical performance, incorporating factors such as the past box office

record of the lead actors and actress, the genre of the film, pre-release market research, the

expected number of theatres that the film will be released to and the anticipated performance

in the home entertainment, television and other ancillary markets, and agreement for future

sales. The estimates for residual values of the film rights are continually evaluated based on the

changes in consumer demand.

(e) Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and

equipment in order to determine the amount of depreciation expenses to be recorded. The

useful lives are estimated at the time the assets acquired based on historical experience, the

expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical obsolescence arising from

changes in the market demands or service output of the assets. The Group also performs

annual reviews on whether the assumptions made on useful lives continue to be valid.

(f) Impairment Loss on Non-current Assets

If a triggering event occurs indicating that the carrying amount of an asset may not be

recoverable, an assessment of the carrying amount of that asset will be performed. Triggering

events include significant adverse changes in the market of an asset, changes in the business or

regulatory environment, or certain legal events. The interpretation of such events requires

judgement from the management with respect to whether such an event has occurred. Upon

the occurrence of triggering events, the carrying amounts of non-current assets are reviewed to

assess whether their recoverable amounts have declined below their carrying amounts. The

recoverable amount is the present value of estimated net future cash flows which the Group

expects to generate from the future use of the asset, plus the assets residual value on disposal.

Where the recoverable amount of non-current assets is less than its carrying amount, an

impairment loss is recognised to write the assets down to its recoverable amount.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(g) Measurement of Convertible Notes

On issuance of convertible notes, the fair value of liability component is determined using a

market value for an equivalent convertible notes; and this amount is carried as a long term

liability on the amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The

remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included

in the shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs. The splitting of the liability and equity

components require an estimation of the market interest rate.

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s major financial instruments include cash and bank balances, trade receivable, equity

investments, other receivables, trade payables, other payables, borrowings, and convertible notes. The

Company’s major financial instruments include cash and bank balances, other receivables and other

payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated

with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The

management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented

on a timely and effective manner.

(a) Market Risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and majority of transactions are dominated in

Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. As the exchange rate between Hong Kong dollars and

Renminbi remains stable, the foreign exchange exposure to such currencies are considered

limited.

(ii) Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are listed securities and

thus measured at fair value at each balance sheet date. Therefore, the Group is exposed

to equity price risk and the management will monitor the price movements of such

financial assets and take appropriate actions when it is required.

(b) Credit Risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. The Group has

no significant concentration of credit risk. The management has a credit policy in place and the

exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

(c) Liquidity Risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its

compliance with lending covenants, to ensure the maintenance of sufficient reserves of cash

and readily realisable marketable securities and adequate committed lines of funding from

major financial institutions and other external sources to meet the Group’s liquidity requirements

in the short and long term.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d) Cash Flow and Fair Value Interest Rate Risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate

because of changes in market interest rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future

cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The key exposure of the Group to these risks are originating from the interest-bearing borrowings.

The Group monitors the interest rate risk exposure on a continuous basis and adjusts the

portfolio of borrowings where necessary.

5. TURNOVER

Turnover from continuing operations mainly comprise of revenue from (i) film and TV programme

production, (ii) event production, (iii) artiste and model management, (iv) music production and (v)

manufacturing and sale of multimedia electronic products, toys and games products. Turnover from

discontinued operations represents revenue from the provision of telecommunication and system

integration services. The amounts of each significant category of revenue recognised during the year

are as follows:

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Continuing operations:

– Film and TV programme production 19,839 2,370

– Event production 4,668 –

– Artiste and model management 9,906 332

– Music production 485 –

– Manufacturing and sale of:

– Multimedia electronic products 2,436 53,281

– Toys and games products – –

37,334 55,983

Discontinued operations:

– Provision of telecommunication and

system integration services 470 3,178
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Business Segments

Business segment information is chosen as the primary reporting format because this is more

relevant to the Group’s internal financial reporting.

The following table presents revenue and results, certain assets, liabilities and expenditures

information for the Group’s business segments of 2006:

Discontinued
Continuing operations operations

Film and Telecom-
TV Artiste and Toys and Multimedia munication

programme Event model Music games electronic and system
production production management production products products Others integration Others Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue 19,839 4,668 9,906 485 – 2,436 – 470 – 37,804

Segment results 340 706 2,926 46 – 312 – 278 – 4,608

Interest income and
unallocated gains 5,915

Unallocated corporate
expenses (48,339)

Impairment loss on trade
and other receivables (15,320)

Impairment loss on film
rights (4,409)

Change in fair value of
financial assets at fair
value through profit or
loss (2,259)

Loss from operations (59,804)
Impairment loss on goodwill (40,414)
Finance costs (17,098)
Share of results of associates (147,995)
Gain on disposal of

subsidiaries 476

Loss before taxation (264,835)
Taxation –

Loss for the year (264,835)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of

the Company (261,914)
Minority interests (2,921)

(264,835)

Segment assets 61,748 13,323 9,190 2,345 – 391 350,597 – – 437,594

Segment liabilities 5,823 11,459 2,177 1,487 – 2,694 257,872 – – 281,512

Other segment information:
Capital expenditures 1,106 283 284 – – – 542 – – 2,215
Depreciation 43 17 47 – – 41 789 286 – 1,223
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Business Segments (Continued)

The following table presents revenue and results, certain assets, liabilities and expenditures

information for the Group’s business segments of 2005:

Discontinued
Continuing operations operations

Film and Telecom-
TV Artiste and Toys and Multimedia munication

programme Event model Music games electronic and system
production production management production products products Others integration Others Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Segment revenue 2,370 – 332 – – 53,281 – 3,178 – 59,161

Segment results (130) – 264 – – 5,054 – 444 – 5,632

Interest income and
unallocated gains 307

Unallocated corporate
expenses (31,884)

Impairment loss on trade
and other receivables (13,036)

Loss from operations (38,981)
Amortisation of goodwill (946)
Impairment loss on goodwill (3,809)
Finance costs (980)
Gain on disposal of

subsidiaries 4

Loss before taxation (44,712)
Taxation –

Loss for the year (44,712)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of

the Company (36,799)
Minority interests (7,913)

(44,712)

Segment assets 13,113 6,615 2,981 – – 1,628 51,671 7,318 13 83,339

Segment liabilities 22 85 1,326 – – 3,533 1,951 4,082 24 11,023

Other segment information:
Capital expenditures – – 22 – – 37 24,460 99 – 24,618
Depreciation – – 1 – – 68 231 526 – 826
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Geographical Segments

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues and results are attributed to the

segments based on the location of the customers. More than 90% of the Group’s assets and

liabilities are located in the region of Hong Kong and Mainland China. Accordingly, analysis of

segment assets and liabilities based on the geographical segments has not been disclosed. The

following table presents revenue for the Group’s geographical segments:

For the year ended 30 June 2006

North Hong

America Europe Japan Kong China Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from

external customers 1,044 491 – 30,720 4,844 705 37,804

For the year ended 30 June 2005

North Hong

America Europe Japan Kong China Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from

external customers 3,443 5,490 21 29,284 20,757 166 59,161
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7. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 15 June 2006, the Group disposed of its interests in certain subsidiaries (“Disposed Subsidiaries”)
as per note 38 to the financial statements at a total consideration of US$4 (approximately equivalent
to HK$31). The principal activity of a major subsidiary disposed was the provision of telecommunication
and system integration services. Upon disposal of the Disposed Subsidiaries, the Group discontinued
its provision of telecommunication and system integration services.

The results attributable to the discontinued business for the year were as follows:

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Turnover 470 3,178
Cost of sales (192) (2,734)

Gross profit 278 444
Other revenue – –
Other income – 94
Distribution costs – (73)
Administrative expenses (2,762) (5,322)
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables (1,661) (13,036)

Loss from operations (4,145) (17,893)
Finance costs – (217)

Loss before taxation (4,145) (18,110)
Taxation – –

Loss for the year from discontinued operations (4,145) (18,110)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (2,296) (10,218)
Minority interests (1,849) (7,892)

Loss for the year (4,145) (18,110)

Assets and liabilities of the Disposed Subsidiaries were as follows:

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Total assets 2,340 7,331
Total liabilities (3,209) (4,106)

Net (liabilities)/assets (869) 3,225
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7. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

The cash flows of the discontinued operations were as follows:

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Net cash generated from operating activities 245 (2,810)

Net cash used in financing activities (217) (217)

Total net cash inflow/(outflow) 28 (3,027)

Loss per share:

Basic, from the discontinued operations 0.1 cent 2.6 cents

Diluted, from the discontinued operations N/A N/A

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share from the discontinued operations are based on:

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Net loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of

the Company from the discontinued operations 2,296 10,218

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

during the year in the basic loss per share calculation 2,090,778 388,118

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used

in the diluted loss per share calculation N/A N/A
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8. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Other revenue

Bank interest income 193 37

Rental income 579 –

Interest income 3,795 –

Others 951 24

5,518 61

Other income

Change in value of held-to-maturity investments 336 –

Sundry income 61 152

397 152

9. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Loss from operations is stated after charging:

Cost of inventories (included in cost of sales) 2,563 51,029

Amortisation of film rights (included in cost of sales) 19,499 2,500

Auditors’ remuneration 500 380

Amortisation of trademark 233 20

Amortisation of contract rights 8 3

Impairment loss on contract rights 109 –

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 920 292

Operating leases in respect of land and buildings 2,548 866

Staff costs

– Retirement benefit scheme contributions 371 177

– Other staff costs, including directors’ emoluments 11,622 6,347

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 13,659 –
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10. FINANCE COSTS

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Interest on:

Bank borrowings wholly repayable
within five years 448 –

Discount bills – 31
Short-term borrowings 4,936 244
Convertible notes 11,590 426
Amortisation of issue costs of convertible bonds – 62
Others 124 –

17,098 763

11. TAXATION

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the financial statements as the Company
and its subsidiaries either incurred taxation loss or had no assessable profit for the year (2005: Nil).

No provision for deferred tax liabilities has been made as the Group and the Company had no
material temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of losses due to the unpredictability of
the future profit streams.

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable tax rate:

2006 2005
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

Loss before taxation (264,835) (44,712)

Tax at domestic income tax rate (46,346) 17.5 (7,825) 17.5

Tax effect of income that
is not taxable in determining
taxable profit (119) – (1) –

Tax effect of expenses that are not
deductible in determining
taxable profit 35,644 (13.5) 579 (1.3)

Tax effect of unrecognised
temporary differences 25 – (226) 0.5

Tax effect of unrecognised
tax losses 10,796 (4.0) 7,473 (16.7)

Taxation charge for the year – – – –
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12. NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Of the Group’s net loss for the year of approximately HK$264,835,000 (2005: HK$44,712,000

(restated)), HK$298,592,000 (2005: HK$8,593,000) has been dealt with in the financial statements of

the Company.

13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per ordinary share is based on the following data:

For Continuing and Discontinued Operations

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per ordinary share

(loss for the year attributable to equity

holders of the Company) (261,914) (36,799)

Number Number

of shares of shares

’000 ’000

Weighted average number of shares for the purpose

of basic loss per ordinary share 2,090,778 388,118

From Continuing Operations

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per ordinary share

(loss for the year attributable to equity

holders of the Company) (261,914) (36,799)

Less: Loss for the year from discontinued operations 2,296 10,218

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per ordinary share

from continuing operations (259,618) (26,581)

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above.

The computation of diluted loss per share for both continuing and discontinued operations did not

assume the exercise of the convertible notes existed during the year as the exercise of such notes

would reduce loss per share.
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14. DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year

ended 30 June 2006 (2005: Nil).

15. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ Emoluments

Directors’ remuneration, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

The Group

Provident
Housing Fund

Fees Salaries Allowances Contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Name of Director

2006:
Executive directors
Mr. Yu Kam Kee, Lawrence – – – – –
Mr. Carl Chang – 1,920 480 12 2,412
Mr. Yu Kam Yuen, Lincoln 100 – – – 100
Mr. Tong Chin Shing – – – – –

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Li Fui Lung, Danny 100 – – – 100
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, Herman 100 – – – 100
Mr. John Paul McLellan 25 – – – 25
Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham  150 – – – 150
Mr. Fong Shing Kwong, Michael 115 – – – 115

590 1,920 480 12 3,002

2005:
Executive directors
Mr. Carl Chang – 1,520 400 15 1,935
Mr. Yu Kam Yuen, Lincoln 83 – – – 83
Mr. Wu Jiahong 110 – – – 110
Mr. Liao Chongde 791 – 216 – 1,007

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Li Fui Lung, Danny 100 – – – 100
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, Herman 100 – – – 100
Mr. John Paul McLellan 75 – – – 75

1,259 1,520 616 15 3,410
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15. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)

During the year, no share option (2005: Nil) was granted to directors of the Company under

the Company’s share option scheme. The details of these benefits in kind are disclosed under

section headed “Directors’ Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in the Report

of the Directors of the Company. In the absence of a readily available market value for an

accurate assessment of the value of these share options, accordingly, no value has been included

in the emoluments of the directors in respect thereof.

There was no arrangement under which a director of the Company waived or agreed to waive

any emoluments during the year.

(b) Five Highest Paid Individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year included

one (2005: two) director of the Company, details of whose emoluments are set out above. The

emoluments payable to the remaining four (2005: three) individuals during the year are as

follows:

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 3,004 773

The emoluments of the non-director individuals fell within the following bands:

2006 2005

Number of employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 –

4 3
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16. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Retirement Benefit Scheme

Prior to 1 December 2000, the Group operated a defined contribution retirement benefits scheme
(“Defined Contribution Scheme”) for its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme
were held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Where there are employees who leave the Defined Contribution Scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, the amount of the forfeited contributions would be used to reduce the contributions
payable by the Group. The Defined Contribution Scheme was terminated on 1 December 2000.

Effective from 1 December 2000, the Group joined the MPF Scheme for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rules of the
MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees are each required to make contributions to the MPF
Scheme at rates specified in the rules. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiary in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are members
of the state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme organised by the relevant local government authority
in the PRC. The subsidiary is required to contribute, based on a certain percentage of the basic salary
of its employees, to the retirement benefit scheme and has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pension or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. The state-sponsored
retirement benefit scheme represents the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its employees in respect of its subsidiaries
outside Hong Kong and the PRC.

Equity Compensation Benefits

Share Options

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) on 23 November 2001
under which the directors may grant options to employees, including any directors of the Company,
its subsidiaries or any entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity interest to subscribe
for shares in the Company as incentive or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The subscription
price will be determined by the directors (subject to adjustment), and will not be less than (i) the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for
trades in one or more board lots of shares on the date of offer of the options; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the options; or (iii) the nominal value of
the shares of the Company, whichever is the highest. The maximum number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted under this scheme may not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

The amount paid on acceptance of an option was HK$1. An option may be exercised at any time
before the expiration of ten years from the date of grant of the option. The maximum entitlement of
each participant under the Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period is 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. As at the date of this report, a total of 215,422,444 shares of
the Company (representing 10% of the existing issued share capital of the Company) are available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will expire on 23 November 2011.

During the year, no share option was granted.
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group

Artiste
contract

Trademark rights Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 July 2004 – – –
Additions 1,169 120 1,289

At 30 June 2005 and 1 July 2005 1,169 120 1,289
Additions  76 – 76

At 30 June 2006 1,245 120 1,365

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
At 1 July 2004 – – –
Provided for the year 20 3 23

At 30 June 2005 and 1 July 2005 20 3 23
Provided for the year 233 8 241
Impairment loss – 109 109

At 30 June 2006 253 120 373

Net book value:
At 30 June 2006  992 – 992

At 30 June 2005 1,149 117 1,266

The Company

Trademark
HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 July 2004, 30 June 2005 and 1 July 2005 –
Additions 76

At 30 June 2006 76

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
At 1 July 2004, 30 June 2005, 1 July 2005 and 30 June 2006 –

Net book value:
At 30 June 2006 76

At 30 June 2005 –

The carrying amount of the Company’s trademark at 30 June 2006 was approximate to its fair value.
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18. LEASEHOLD LAND

The Group

HK$’000

Cost:

At 1 July 2004, as previously reported –

Effect of adoption of HKAS 17 14,321

At 30 June 2005, as restated, 1 July 2005 and 30 June 2006 14,321

Accumulated amortisation:

At 1 July 2004, as previously reported –

Effect of adoption of HKAS 17 7

At 30 June 2005, as restated and 1 July 2005 7

Charge for the year 17

At 30 June 2006 24

Net book value:

At 30 June 2006 14,297

At 30 June 2005 14,314

The Group’s leasehold land was located in Hong Kong which represents operating lease payments

under long-term lease and the lease payments are amortised on a straight-line method over the

remaining term of lease.

At 30 June 2006, the Group’s leasehold land with a net book value of approximately HK$14,297,000

(2005: HK$14,314,000) was pledged to secure the banking facilities granted to the Company.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group

Furniture,
fixtures Tools

Leasehold and and Motor
Buildings improvement equipment moulds vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated) (Restated)

Cost:
At 1 July 2004,

as previously reported – 30 288 258 1,090 1,666
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – 3,157 – – 3,157
Additions 21,879 1,805 934 – – 24,618
Effect on adoption

of HKAS 17 (14,321) – – – – (14,321)
Disposals – (30) (201) – (1,090) (1,321)

At 30 June 2005, as restated
and 1 July 2005 7,558 1,805 4,178 258 – 13,799

Additions – 584 731 – 900 2,215
Disposal of subsidiaries – – (3,231) – – (3,231)
Disposals – – (91) (258) – (349)

At 30 June 2006 7,558 2,389 1,587 – 900 12,434

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:
At 1 July 2004,

as previously reported – 7 71 13 207 298
Charge for the year 119 90 598 52 – 859
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – 559 – – 559
Written back on disposals – (7) (60) – (207) (274)

119 90 1,168 65 – 1,442

Effect on adoption of HKAS 17 (40) – – – – (40)

At 30 June 2005, restated
and at 1 July 2005 79 90 1,168 65 – 1,402

Charge for the year 189 394 548 30 45 1,206
Disposal of subsidiaries – – (1,370) – – (1,370)
Written back on disposals – – (34) (95) – (129)

At 30 June 2006 268 484 312 – 45 1,109

Net book value:
At 30 June 2006 7,290 1,905 1,275 – 855 11,325

At 30 June 2005 7,479 1,715 3,010 193 – 12,397
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Company

Furniture,

Leasehold  fixtures and Motor

improvement equipment vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:

At 1 July 2004 30 233 1,090 1,353

Additions 1,805 777 – 2,582

Disposals (30) (201) (1,090) (1,321)

At 30 June 2005

and 1 July 2005 1,805 809 – 2,614

Additions 183 359 – 542

Disposals – – – –

At 30 June 2006 1,988 1,168 – 3,156

Accumulated depreciation

and impairment:

At 1 July 2004 7 64 207 278

Charge for the year 90 55 – 145

Written back on disposals (7) (60) (207) (274)

At 30 June 2005 and

1 July 2005 90 59 – 149

Charge for the year 380 204 – 584

Written back on disposals – – – –

At 30 June 2006 470 263 – 733

Net book value:

At 30 June 2006 1,518 905 – 2,423

At 30 June 2005 1,715 750 – 2,465

As at 30 June 2006, the Group’s buildings with carrying amounts of HK$7,290,000 were pledged to

secure the banking facilities granted to the Company.
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets of associates (Note a) 75,654 –

Goodwill arising on acquisition of associates (Note b) 72,365 –

148,019 –

Notes:

(a) Share of net assets of associates

HK$’000

At 1 July 2005 –

Acquisition of 49% interests in associates (Note c) 223,649

Share of results of associates for the year (147,995)

Share of net assets of associates at 30 June 2006 75,654

(b) Goodwill arising on acquisition of associates

HK$’000

At 1 July 2005 –

Acquisition of 49% interests in associates (Note c) 112,626

Impairment loss recognised during the year (40,261)

At 30 June 2006 72,365

(c) Acquisition of 49% interests in associates

On 21 April 2005, Enjoy Profits Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into an

acquisition agreement with TVB Satellite TV Holdings Limited to acquire 49% interests in TVB Pay Vision

Holdings Limited (formerly known as Galaxy Satellite TV Holdings Limited) and its subsidiary (“TVB Pay

Vision Group”) for a cash consideration of approximately HK$336,275,000 (“Acquisition”). Subsequent to

the completion of the acquisition on 12 August 2005, TVB Pay Vision Group became associate companies

of the Group. The net assets of TVB Pay Vision Group as at the date of the acquisition was approximately

HK$223,649,000. Accordingly, goodwill arising from the Acquisition was approximately HK$112,626,000.

(d) At 30 June 2006, the directors of the Company assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill arising on

the acquisition of associates by reference to the valuation as at 30 June 2006 performed by Norton

Appraisals Limited (“Norton Appraisals”), an independent firm of professional valuers, and impairment loss

of approximately HK$40,261,000 was provided according to the opinion of Norton Appraisals and the

directors of the Company. The valuation of the goodwill was determined based on the present value of the

expected future revenue arising from the business of the associates.
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations

use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a period of six

years. Cash flows beyond the 6 years period is represented by its continuing value.

The projections adopted various growth rates over the period which is equivalent to any average growth

rate as below.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

Average growth rate 18.50%

Discount rate 16.25%

The management determined the budgeted growth rate based on past performance and its expectation for

market development. The discount rate used is after tax and reflects specific risks relating to the CGU.

The resulting value of the Group’s share of the recoverable amount of TVB Pay Vision Group is lower than

the carrying amount of the Group’s interests in TVB Pay Vision Group based on value-in-use calculations

and an impairment loss of HK$40,261,000 was recognised.

(e) Details of the Group’s interests in associates as at 30 June 2006 are as follows:

Attributable to

Place of Registered equity interest

Name incorporation capital of the Group Profit sharing Principal activities

% %

TVB Pay Vision Holdings Hong Kong HK$1,085,867,759 49 49 Investment holding

Limited (formerly known in Hong Kong

as “Galaxy Satellite TV

Holdings Limited”)

TVB Pay Vision Limited Hong Kong HK$2* 49 49 Domestic pay

(formerly known as television

“Galaxy Satellite TV programme service

Broadcasting Limited”) in Hong Kong

* an associate held indirectly by the Group
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e) (Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s interests in associates from the date of

financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 is set out below:

HK$’000

Turnover 164,271

Loss for the year (356,990)

Loss attributable to the Group from the date of acquisition (147,995)

Total assets 560,264

Total liabilities (405,867)

Net assets 154,397

Net assets attributable to the Group 75,654

21. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Debt element of convertible notes 14,819 –

During the year ended 30 June 2006, the Company has subscribed convertible notes with an aggregate

amount of HK$20,000,000 from Golden Harvest Entertainment (Holdings) Limited, a company

incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability with its shares listed on the main board of The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, which bears interest at 4% per annum. The interest is payable semi-

annually in arrears.

In accordance to HKAS 39, an embedded derivative in a combined instrument shall be separated from

the host contract and account for as a derivative. Upon receipt of the above convertible notes issued

by the note issuer, the Company separated the debt element and the conversion option element. The

Company has classified all the debt element of the convertible notes as held-to-maturity investments

and the conversion option element of the convertible notes as financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss. The fair value of the convertible notes is determined by the directors of the Company

with reference to the valuation performed by Norton Appraisals, a firm of independent valuer.
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21. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS (Continued)

At 30 June 2006, the fair value of the debt element was approximately HK$14,819,000  by reference

to valuation performed by Norton Appraisals which applied net present value and Black-Scholes Model

rates for the valuation of the debt element.

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group  The Company

2006 2005 2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted securities:

– Debt securities (Notes a and b) 3,531 – 3,531 –

Listed securities:

– Equity securities listed in

Hong Kong (Note c)  3,143 – – –

6,674 – 3,531 –

Notes:

(a) The unlisted securities represents conversion option element of the convertible notes as per Note 21 to the

financial statements. Upon the issuance of the convertible notes, a conversion option element of the

convertible notes of value HK$5,517,000 was recognised by reference to valuation performed by Norton

Appraisals.

(b) The fair value of the unlisted securities as at 30 June 2006 is determined by the directors of the Company

with reference to the revaluation performed by Norton Appraisals. Accordingly, a decrease in fair value of

approximately HK$1,986,000 was recognised in profit or loss.

(c) The equity securities listed in Hong Kong represented the Group’s investment in Big Media Group Limited

(“Big Media Group”), a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares listed

on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. At 30 June 2006, the

Group’s investment represented 17.08% of the issued ordinary shares of Big Media Group.



86See Corporation Limited  Annual Report 2006

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2006

23. GOODWILL

HK$’000

Costs:

At 1 July 2004 107

Additions 5,767

At 30 June 2005, as previously reported 5,874

Eliminated against accumulated amortisation upon adoption of HKFRS 3 (973)

Additions 153

At 1 July 2005, as restated and at 30 June 2006 5,054

Amortisation:

At 1 July 2004 27

Provided for the year 946

At 30 June 2005, as previously reported 973

Eliminated against costs upon adoption of HKFRS 3 (973)

At 1 July 2005, as restated and at 30 June 2006 –

Impairment:

At 1 July 2004 –

Impairment loss recognised for the year 3,809

At 30 June 2005 and at 1 July 2005 3,809

Impairment loss recognised for the year (Note c) 153

At 30 June 2006 3,962

Carrying amount:

At 30 June 2006 1,092

At 30 June 2005 1,092
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23. GOODWILL (Continued)

Notes:

(a) In prior years, the goodwill was either amortised over a period from 5 to 15 years or written off against

reserves. Following the adoption of the HKFRS 3, the Group ceased amortisation of goodwill from 1 July

2005. The accumulated amortisation of goodwill at 30 June 2005 of approximately HK$973,000 was

eliminated against the costs of goodwill. From the year ended 30 June 2006 onwards, goodwill is tested

annually for impairment.

(b) Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGU identified according to the operation in a business segment as

follows:

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Provision of model agency services 1,092 1,092

The recoverable amount of goodwill in a CGU is determined based on the value-in-use calculations. These

calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management covering a

5-year period. Cash flow beyond 5-year period is extrapolated using the estimated rate stated below. The

growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU

operates.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation:

Average growth rate 3%

Discount rate 18%

The management determined the budget gross profit margin based on past performance and its expectations

for the market development. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the

relevant segments.

(c) During the year, an impairment loss on goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries of approximately

HK$153,000 was recognised.

At 30 June 2006, the directors of the Company assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill arising on

the acquisition of subsidiaries by reference to the valuation as at 30 June 2006 performed by Norton

Appraisals Limited (“Norton Appraisals”), an independent firm of professional valuers, and concluded that

no impairment shall be recognised further to the impairment loss of approximately HK$153,000 recognised

during the year. The valuation of the goodwill was determined based on the present value of the expected

future revenue arising from the business of the associates.
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24. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 1 1

Net amounts due from subsidiaries 471,503 57,378

Less: Impairment loss recognised (264,928) –

206,576 57,379

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

The directors of the Group had reviewed the net asset values of the Company’s subsidiaries for the

year ended 30 June 2006 and considered provision for impairment in values be made in respect of the

investment cost to their recoverable amounts.

The following is a list of the significant subsidiaries at 30 June 2006:

Nominal Proportion

value of nominal

of issued value of issued

Place of shares/  shares/registered

incorporation/ registered  capital held

Name of subsidiary operation capital  by the Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Anyone Holdings British Virgin US$1 100% – Property holding

Limited Islands (“BVI”)

Cross Challenge Limited BVI US$2 100% – Investment holding

Day Achieve Limited BVI US$1 100% – Investment holding

Ease Strong Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% – Provision of secretarial

services

Enjoy Profits Limited BVI US$1 100% – Investment holding
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24. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Nominal Proportion

value of nominal

of issued value of issued

Place of shares/  shares/registered

incorporation/ registered  capital held

Name of subsidiary operation capital  by the Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Future Alliance Limited BVI US$1 100% – Investment holding

Grand Class BVI US$1 100% – Investment holding

Investment Limited

Look Models Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$500,000 – 100% Provision of modelling

Limited agency services

Media Platform BVI US$1 100% – Investment holding

Limited

Mega-Vision Pictures Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% Media and

Limited entertainment business

Mega-Vision Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 – 80% Film and TV programme

Productions Limited production

See Entertainment Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% Investment in film

Limited production and

provision of event

management services

See Movie Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% Distribution of motion

pictures and television

drama series

See Music Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% Production of music

video, music record

and provision

of promotion services
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24. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Nominal Proportion

value of nominal

of issued value of issued

Place of shares/  shares/registered

incorporation/ registered  capital held

Name of subsidiary operation capital  by the Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

See People Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% Provision of artiste

management services

Seethru Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% Production of TV

commercials

Shineidea Limited BVI US$1 100% – Investment in securities

Snazz Artistes Limited Hong Kong HK$100 – 100% Provision of artiste

management services

Snazz Entertainment BVI HK$7,800 – 100% Provision of

Group Limited entertainment and

(Formerly known modelling services

as Joybase

Investments Limited)

Snazz Music Limited Hong Kong HK$100 – 100% Production of music

record and provision

of promotion services

Talent Bang Limited Hong Kong HK$100 – 100% Provision of modelling

agency services

The Metropolis Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% General investment,

Wedding Group trading and

Limited management services

Wise Novel BVI US$1 100% – Investment holding

Investments Limited
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24. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) All are ordinary share capital unless otherwise stated.

(ii) The investments in Profit Charter Holdings Limited, Widax (Hong Kong) Limited, Digital Infinity Limited,

Transfer Networks Limited, 深圳銀河通信息技術有限公司 , Cristine Holdings Ltd. and Fine Apex Limited

were disposed of during the year.

(iii) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.

(iv) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of the

Company, principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of

the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.
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25. FILM RIGHTS

The Group

HK$’000

Cost:

At 1 July 2004 –

Additions 5,000

At 30 June 2005 and 1 July 2005 5,000

Additions 43,164

At 30 June 2006 48,164

Accumulated amortisation:

At 1 July 2004 –

Provided for the year 2,500

At 30 June 2005 and 1 July 2005 2,500

Impairment loss recognised for the year 4,409

Provided for the year 18,796

At 30 June 2006 25,705

Carrying amount:

At 30 June 2006 22,459

At 30 June 2005 2,500

Note:

(a) At 30 June 2006, the directors of the Company reassessed the recoverable amount of film rights by

reference to the valuation as at 30 June 2006 performed by Norton Appraisals and determined an impairment

loss of approximately HK$4,409,000 (2005: HK$nil) has been provided.

The valuation was determined based on the present value of the expected future revenue arising from

the sub-licensing and distribution of film rights, which was derived from discounting the project cash

flows.
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26. FILM PRODUCTION IN PROGRESS

The Group

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Film production in progress 29,103 12,903

Note:

(a) At 30 June 2006, the directors of the Company reassessed the recoverable amount of film production in

progress by reference to the valuation as at 30 June 2006 performed by Norton Appraisals and determined

that no impairment loss shall be recognised (2005: HK$nil).

The valuation was determined based on the present value of the expected future revenue arising from

the sub-licensing and distribution of film rights, subsequent to the completion of film production,

which was derived from discounting the project cash flows.

27. INVENTORIES

The Group

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished Goods 196 12,316

Less: Impairment loss recognised – (9,617)

196 2,699

The finished goods were carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value.
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28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

At 30 June 2006 the balances of trade and other receivables included trade receivables of approximately

HK$12,518,000 (2005: HK$4,750,000). An aged analysis of trade receivables prepared on the basis of

sales invoice date is as follows:

The Group

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

0 – 90 days 5,330 4,077

91 days or above 10,862 16,641

16,192 20,718

Less: Impairment loss on trade receivables (3,674) (15,968)

12,518 4,750

The Group allows an average credit period of 90 – 180 days (2005: 90 – 180 days) to its trade

customers.

The directors of the Company have assessed the recoverability of other receivables and opined that

the recoverability of which were in doubt and an impairment loss on other receivables of approximately

HK$9,985,000 (2005: HK$13,036,000) has been recognised during the year.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables at 30 June 2006 were approximate

to their fair values.

29. PLEDGED OF BANK DEPOSITS

At 30 June 2006, the Group’s bank deposits amounted to HK$718,000 has been pledged to a bank as

guarantee of the operating lease commitments. The details of the operating lease commitments are

set out in note 36 to the financial statements.
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

At 30 June 2006, the balances of trade and other payables included trade payables of approximately

HK$11,254,000 (2005: HK$4,731,000). An aged analysis of trade payables prepared on the basis of

supplier invoice date is as follows:

The Group

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 90 days 5,971 3,887

91 days or above 5,283 844

11,254 4,731

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables at 30 June 2006 were approximate to

their fair values.

31. SHORT-TERM LOAN – UNSECURED

On 11 August 2005, the Company entered into a loan agreement with ITC Management Limited for a

loan facility in the principal amount of HK$25,000,000. The Company further entered into a

supplemental loan agreement with ITC Management Limited on 28 February 2006. Pursuant to the

supplemental loan agreement, ITC Management Limited has agreed to increase the loan facility by

HK$84,000,000 from the initial principal amount of HK$25,000,000 to HK$109,000,000.

The short-term loan is unsecured, chargeable with interest at 2% over the best lending rate of Hong

Kong dollar and repayable on demand. On 28 July 2006, an amount of HK$109,000,000 has been

repaid to ITC Management Limited.

The carrying amount of the short-term loan is denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The carrying amount of the short-term loan was approximate to its fair value.
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32. BANK OVERDRAFT – SECURED

During the year ended 30 June 2006, the Company had been granted an overdraft facility from a

bank. The bank overdraft is secured by the Group’s building and leasehold land in Hong Kong with

carrying amounts at 30 June 2006 of approximately HK$7,290,000 and HK$14,297,000 respectively,

chargeable with interest at the lending bank’s prime rate per annum or 1% per annum over Hong

Kong Inter-bank Offer Rate, whichever is higher and repayable on demand.

The carrying amount of the bank overdraft is denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The carrying amount of the bank overdraft was approximate to its fair value.

33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

The Group and the Company

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Face value of convertible notes issued on 10 August 2005 170,000 –

Equity component (45,920) –

Liability component on initial recognition on 10 August 2005 124,080 –

Interest expense 11,590 –

Liability component at 30 June 2006 135,670 –

Pursuant to the convertible notes subscription agreement dated 21 April 2005, the Company issued

convertible notes in the principal of HK$170,000,000 (the “Convertible Notes”) to Hanny Holdings

Limited (the “Noteholder”). The Noteholder may at any business day after the date of issue of the

Convertible Notes up to and including the date prior to the fifth anniversary of the date of issue of

the Convertible Notes convert the whole or any part in an amount or integral multiple of HK$500,000

of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes into shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of

the Company, at the conversion price of HK$0.12 per share.

The conversion price of the Convertible Notes had been adjusted from HK$0.12 per share to HK$0.0406

per share as a result of the Rights Issue taken place on 30 June 2006. For details please refer to the

Company’s announcement entitled “Results of the Rights Issue and Adjustments in relation to the

Hanny Convertible Notes” dated 3 July 2006.

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible notes at 30 June 2006 amounted to

approximately HK$135,670,000. The fair value is calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate

based on the borrowing rate of 7.75%.

Interest expense on the notes is calculated using the effective interest method by applying the

effective interest rate of 7.75% to the liability component.
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34. SHARE CAPITAL

Number Nominal

of shares value

Notes HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

Authorised:

At 1 July 2004 20,000,000,000 200,000

Share consolidation (c) (19,500,000,000) –

500,000,000 200,000

Increase in authorised share capital (d) 750,000,000 300,000

1,250,000,000 500,000

Capital reorganisation

– cancellation of unissued shares (g)(ii) (711,443,889) (284,578)

– capital reduction (g)(i) – (210,036)

– increase in authorised share capital (g)(ii) 49,461,443,889 494,614

At 30 June 2005, 1 July 2005

and 30 June 2006 50,000,000,000 500,000

Issued:

At 1 July 2004 10,614,124,132 106,141

Exercise of share options (a) 50,000,000 500

Conversion of convertible bonds (b) 888,888,888 8,889

Share consolidation (c) (11,264,187,695) –

Placing of shares (e) 225,000,000 90,000

Settlement of short-term borrowings (f) 24,730,786 9,892

Capital reduction (g)(i) – (210,036)

At 30 June 2005 and 1 July 2005 538,556,111 5,386

Rights issue on 22 July 2005 (h) 1,615,668,333 16,156

Rights issue on 30 June 2006 (i) 10,771,122,220 107,711

At 30 June 2006 12,925,346,664 129,253
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34. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

The following movements in the Company’s issued share capital took place during the year ended 30 June 2005

and 2006:

(a) On 29 November 2004, the Company received notice from a holder of the share options to fully exercise

rights attached to the 50,000,000 share options granted under the Share Option Scheme. A total of

50,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were duly issued and allotted at the exercise price of

HK$0.017 per share in accordance with the rules of the Share Option Scheme. The consideration received

by the Company for the issue of the 50,000,000 shares amounted to HK$850,000.

(b) On 29 November 2004, the Company received notice from the holders of the Bonds. 888,888,888 ordinary

shares were duly issued and allotted at the conversion price of HK$0.018 per share in accordance with the

terms of the Bonds. The consideration received by the Company for the issue of the 888,888,888 shares

amounted to HK$16,000,000.

(c) Pursuant to a resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting held on

17 December 2004, every forty issued and unissued ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital

of the Company were consolidated into one share of HK$0.40 each.

(d) On 20 December 2004, the authorised share capital was increased from HK$200,000,000 to HK$500,000,000

by the creation of 750,000,000 new consolidated shares of HK$0.40 each.

(e) On 21 January 2005, 225,000,000 new consolidated shares of par value of HK$0.40 each were issued by

the Company through placement to independent third parties at par value pursuant to a placing agreement

entered into between the Company and Tai Fook Securities Company Limited as the placing agent on 12

November 2004. The consideration received by the Company for the issue of the shares 225,000,000

amounted to HK$90,000,000.

(f) On 7 February 2005, the Company entered into settlement agreements with Ms. Tsim Shui Ting (“Ms.

Tsim”) and Asano (Pte) Ltd (“APL”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue 21,732,430

shares and 2,998,356 shares, all credited as fully paid, at HK$0.40 each to Ms. Tsim and APL respectively

in settlement of the loans owed to them. Such shares were issued on 9 March 2005. The consideration

received by the Company for the issue of the shares 24,730,786 amounted to HK$9,892,314.

(g) Pursuant to a resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting held on

27 June 2005, a capital reorganisation which involves, inter alia, (i) a reduction of the nominal value of

each of the 538,556,111 the issued shares from HK$0.40 to HK$0.01 by cancelling the Company’s paid up

capital to the extent of HK$0.39 on each issued share and (ii) the cancellation of all of the authorised but

unissued 711,443,889 shares with the subsequent increase of the authorised share capital to

HK$500,000,000 of HK$0.01 each by the creation of 49,461,443,889 shares of HK$0.01 each was approved

by the shareholders of the Company.
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34. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(h) Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at a special general

meeting on 27 June 2005, rights issue of 1,615,668,333 rights shares at price of HK$0.10 each payable in

full on acceptance on the basis that three rights shares for every existing share has been approved by the

shareholders at the special general meeting. The rights issue has been completed on 22 July 2005.

(i) Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at a special general

meeting on 12 June 2006, rights issue of 10,771,122,220 rights shares at price of HK$0.014 each payable

in full on acceptance on the basis that five rights shares for every existing share has been approved by the

shareholders at the special general meeting. The rights issue has been completed on 30 June 2006.

All new shares issued ranked pari passu with the then existing shares in all respects.

Share Options

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”), further details of which are set out

under the heading “Equity Compensation Benefits” in note 16 to the financial statements.
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35. RESERVES

The Group

Convertible

Share Contributed notes Accumulated

premium surplus reserve deficits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated)

At 1 July 2004, as previously

reported as equity 115,672 – – (228,267) (112,595)

Premium arising on issue

of shares pursuant to

exercise of share options 350 – – – 350

Premium arising on issue of

shares pursuant to conversion

of convertible bonds 7,111 – – – 7,111

Shares issue expenses on

placing of shares (2,610) – – – (2,610)

Capital reduction – 210,036 – – 210,036

Amount transferred to write

off accumulated deficits – (210,036) – 210,036 –

Net loss for the year – – – (36,832) (36,832)

At 30 June 2005,

as previously reported 120,523 – – (55,063) 65,460

Effect on adoption of HKAS 17 – – – 33 33

At 30 June 2005, as restated 120,523 – – (55,030) 65,493

Capital reorganisation (28,663) 28,663 – – –

Amount transferred to

written off accumulated

deficits – (28,663) – 28,663 –

Premium arising on issue of

shares to rights issue 185,619 – – – 185,619

Shares issue expenses

on rights issue (9,350) – – – (9,350)

Convertible notes

– equity component – – 45,920 – 45,920

Net loss for the year – – – (261,914) (261,914)

At 30 June 2006 268,129 – 45,920 (288,281) 25,768
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35. RESERVES (Continued)

The Company

Convertible

Share Contributed notes Accumulated

premium surplus reserve deficits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note a) (Restated) (Restated)

At 1 July 2004, as previously

reported as equity 115,672 – – (247,721) (132,049)

Premium arising on issue

of shares pursuant to

exercise of share options 350 – – – 350

Premium arising on issue of

shares pursuant to conversion

of convertible bonds 7,111 – – – 7,111

Shares issue expenses on

placing of shares (2,610) – – – (2,610)

Capital reduction (Note b) – 210,036 – – 210,036

Amount transferred to write

off accumulated deficits

(Note b) – (210,036) – 210,036 –

Net loss for the year – – – (8,593) (8,593)

At 30 June 2005 120,523 – – (46,278) 74,245

Capital reorganisation (Note c) (28,663) 28,663 – – –

Amount transferred to write

off accumulated deficits

(Note c) – (28,663) – 28,663 –

Premium arising from issue of

shares on rights issue

(Note d & e) 185,619 – – – 185,619

Shares issue expenses

on rights issue (9,350) – – – (9,350)

Convertible notes

– equity component (Note f) – – 45,920 – 45,920

Net loss for the year – – – (298,592) (298,592)

At 30 June 2006 268,129 – 45,920 (316,207) (2,158)
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35. RESERVES (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Under the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed surplus is also available for distribution

to shareholders. However, a company cannot declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out of

contributed surplus if:

(i) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its

liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium accounts.

(b) Pursuant to a resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting held on

27 June 2005, a capital reorganisation which involves (i) a reduction of the nominal value of each of the

538,556,111 issued shares from HK$0.40 to HK$0.01 by cancelling the Company’s paid up capital to the

extent of HK$0.39 on each issued share by standing credit of the Company’s contributed surplus accounts,

and (ii) transferring the amount to write off the accumulated deficits.

(c) Pursuant to a resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at a special general meeting held on

27 June 2005, a capital reorganisation which involves cancellation of approximately HK$28.7 million

standing to the credit of the Company’s share premium accounts against the accumulated deficits, and

such cancellation became effective on 15 July 2005.

(d) On 21 April 2005, the Company proposed to raise approximately HK$161.6 million before expenses by

way of the rights issue of 1,615,668,333 rights shares at a price of HK$0.10 each payable in full on

acceptance on the basis that three rights shares for every existing share held on the record date. The rights

issue was approved by the shareholders at the special general meeting held on 27 June 2005 and completed

on 22 July 2005.

(e) On 26 May 2006, the Company proposed to raise approximately HK$150.8 million before expenses by way

of the rights issue of 10,771,122,220 rights shares at a price of HK$0.014 each on the basis that five

rights shares in nil-paid form for every share held on the record date. The rights issue was approved by the

shareholders at the special general meeting held on 12 June 2006.

(f) In accordance with HKAS 32, convertible notes issued are split into their liability and equity components at

initial recognition by recognising the liability component at its fair value which is determined using market

interest rate for equivalent non-convertible notes and attributing to the equity component the difference

between the proceeds from issue and the fair value of the liability component. The liability component is

subsequently carried at amortised cost. The equity component is recognised in the convertible notes

reserve until the notes are either converted (in which case it is transferred to share premium) or the notes

are redeemed (in which case it is released directly to accumulated deficits).

(g) In the opinion of directors, the Company did not have any reserves available for distribution to shareholders

at 30 June 2006 and 2005.
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36. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At 30 June 2006, the Group had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases

which fall due as follows:

The Group

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 2,242 255

In the second to fifth year inclusive 15,362 100

17,604 355

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties

and staff quarters. Leases and rentals were negotiated and fixed for an average term of two years

(2005: two years).

37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 30 June 2006, the Group had the following commitments which were not provided for in the

consolidated balance sheet:

The Group

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised and contracted for in respect of capital

contribution in film production in progress 7,828 4,884

Authorised and contracted for in respect of

music production in progress – 1,400

7,828 6,284
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38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net assets disposed of:

Investment in subsidiaries – –

Property, plant and equipment 1,766 –

Trade and other receivables 2 1,003

Cash and bank balances 572 1

Trade and other payables (3,209) (8)

Amount due to the Group (34,865) (1,042)

Net liabilities (35,734) (46)

Amount due to the Group written off on disposal 34,865 42

Minority interests 393 –

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 476 4

– –

Satisfied by:

Cash consideration received 1 1

Net cash outflow in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries:

Cash consideration received 1 1

Cash and bank balances disposed of (572) (1)

(571) –

The subsidiaries disposed of during the year do not have material effect on the Group’s operating

cash outflow, turnover and operating loss for the year ended 30 June 2006.
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39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(i) As at 30 June 2006, the Company provided corporate guarantees amounting to approximately

HK$24 million to a financial institution in respect of banking facilities granted to WIIL group,

approximately HK$5.5 million of which was utilized by members of the WIIL group and such

amount was claimed by the financial institution as disclosed in point (iii) below.

(ii) The Company and its ex-subsidiary P.N. Electronics Ltd. (“PNE”) have been involved in arbitration

proceedings with North American Foreign Trading Corporation (“NAFT”) in respect of a gross

receivable of HK$18 million and related damages from various parties for goods shipped by

PNE to NAFT in 1996. The arbitration proceedings were initiated by NAFT against the Company

and PNE claiming for alleged damages in New York, USA. The Company has upon legal advice,

vigorously contested the alleged claims and has counterclaimed the said sum of HK$18 million

as well as other damages. The arbitration proceedings have been dormant for a substantial

period of time and the Company is considering whether any further action should be taken in

respect of the same.

(iii) On 13 October 2003, a Writ of Summons and Statement of Claim was issued by BII Finance

Company Limited (“BII Finance”) against the Company under a guarantee allegedly given by

the Company in favour of BII Finance in respect of certain liabilities of Welback Enterprises

Limited. The claim is for a sum of approximately HK$3,583,000 and US$248,000 (approximately

HK$1,936,000), together with interest.

The Company has issued Third Party proceedings against Mr. Lee Chun Kwok and Mr. Fong

Wing Seng, former directors of the Company, seeking a contribution to the extent of 49% of

BII Finance’s claim in the event that the Company is found liable to BII Finance (which is

denied).

The Company will continue to defend BII Finance’s claim, and will also continue to pursue the

Third Party proceedings against Mr. Lee Chun Kwok and Mr. Fong Wing Seng. The parties have

yet to exchange witness statements in the main action. The Company has filed its Reply in the

Third Party proceedings on 20 March 2006.

Save as disclosed above, no member of the Group is engaged in any litigation or claims of material

importance and no litigation or claims of material importance is known to the directors of the

Company to be pending or threatened by or against any member of the Group.
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40. TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

During the year, the Group had significant transaction with the following related parties, together

with balances with them at the respective balance sheet date, details of which are as follows:

a) Entities with common directors:

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Sublicensing of film rights income (note i) 406 –

Travelling service expenses (note i) 693 293

Purchase of motor vehicle 250 –

Note:

i. The transactions were carried at price agreed between the parties.

b) Shareholders:

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

TV programme production income (note i) 1,600 –

Management fee paid (note i) 795 847

Convertible notes at the end of the year (note ii) 135,670 –

Notes:

i. The transactions were carried at price agreed between the parties.

ii. The convertible notes payable by the Group is unsecured, interest free and repayable on 9 August

2010. The details of the convertible notes are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

c) Compensation of key management personnel:

2006 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 5,994 4,168

Provident fund contributions 53 49

6,047 4,217
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41. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

a) The board of Directors has entered into a placing agreement dated 22 April 2006 (“Placing

Agreement”) with Success Securities. Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, Success Securities

will procure, on the best effort basis, places to subscribe by cash for the convertible notes up

to an aggregate principal amount of HK$250 million (“Convertible Notes”). The date for

completion of the placing was originally scheduled on or before 31 July 2006. As Success

Securities requires additional time to identify subscribers for the Convertible Notes, the Company

has agreed with Success Securities to extend the date for completion of the placing from 31

July 2006 to 29 September 2006, and further extend to 30 November 2006.

b) On 4 October 2006, the Board announced the proposed capital reorganisation (“Capital

Reorganisation”), which included a capital reduction (“Capital Reduction”) and a share

consolidation (“Share Consolidation”), and the change of board lot size.

Pursuant to the Capital Reduction, the issued share capital of the Company will be reduced by

HK$0.0099 per Existing Share by cancelling an equivalent amount of paid-up capital per Existing

Share so that the nominal value of each Existing Share in issue will be reduced from HK$0.01

to HK$0.0001.

Immediately following the Capital Reduction, the Share Consolidation will be implemented

whereby every 100 issued shares of HK$0.0001 each resulting from the Capital Reduction will

be consolidated into one consolidated share of HK$0.01.

On the basis of 12,925,346,664 Existing Shares in issue as at 4 October 2006, a credit of

approximately HK$128.0 million will arise from the Capital Reduction. Such amount will be

transferred to the contributed surplus account of the Company upon implementation of the

Capital Reduction. Part of the contributed surplus of the Company will be applied to eliminate

the accumulated deficits of the Company, which amounted to approximately HK$27.5 million

as at 31 December 2005. Based on the above, the accumulated deficits of the Company as at

31 December 2005 will be fully eliminated and there will be a surplus of approximately HK$100.5

million standing to the credit of the contributed surplus account of the Company following

completion of the Capital Reorganisation.

42. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20

October 2006.




